RECEIVED

May 19 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Vernon F. Dunbar, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2023CP2303853

Appellate Case No: 2025-002506

Andrew Barr,

Respondent,

vs.

Dave H. Squalli,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

/s/ Scott F. Talley

Scott F. Talley, Esquire

TALLEY LAW FIRM, P.A.

291 S. Pine Street

Spartanburg, South Carolina 29302

Telephone: 864-595-2966

Email: scott@talleylawfirm.com

Attorney for Appellant Dave H. Squalli

May 19, 2026

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Did the lower court err by failing to apply the clear and unambiguous terms of the Second Lease?

- B. Did the lower court err in awarding treble damages under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(b)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a landlord-tenant dispute initially commenced in the Magistrate Court for the County of Greenville, South Carolina.

Dave H. Squalli (“Appellant”) is the owner of certain real property located at and identified as 400 Mills Avenue, Unit 412, Greenville, South Carolina 29605 (“Subject Property”) (*See Tenant’s Complaint - R. pp. 003-006*).¹ Appellant and Andrew Barr (“Respondent”) entered into an original lease agreement on March 1, 2017 (“Original Lease”) (*See Original Lease - R. pp. 007-009*).² A second lease agreement was entered into between Appellant and Respondent on March 20, 2020 (“Second Lease”) (*See Second Lease - R. pp. 010-012*).³ Both the Original Lease and Second Lease required Respondent to pay a security deposit of One Thousand Nine Hundred and no/100 Dollars (\$1,900.00) (“Security Deposit”) (*See Original Lease and Second Lease - R. pp. 007-012*).

On August 19, 2021 Respondent commenced an action against Appellant asserting that Appellant had wrongfully failed to return One Thousand Eight Hundred Seventy-Five and no/100 Dollars (\$1,875.00) of the Security Deposit. On September 30, 2021 Appellant filed his Answer and Counterclaim (“Landlord’s Answer”) asserting that the Security Deposit was properly withheld based on the condition of the Subject Property⁴ (*See Landlord’s Answer - R. pp. 013-016*).

¹ Respondent is a member of the South Carolina Bar and filed his initial pleading with the Magistrate Court on his own behalf. While the initial pleading was not identified as a complaint, for simplicity purposes Appellant will refer to the initial pleading filed by Andrew Barr as “Tenant’s Complaint.”

² The Original Lease was identified as Exhibit 1 to Tenant’s Complaint.

³ The Second Lease was identified as Exhibit 2 to Tenant’s Complaint.

⁴ See Landlord’s Answer.

A bench trial was conducted before Magistrate Judge Jonathan A. Horne on June 26, 2023 (*See* Magistrate Court’s Order dated June 28, 2023 - R. pp. 203-204).⁵ Judge Horne made specific findings of fact and concluded that Respondent (as Plaintiff before the Magistrate Court) was not entitled to the relief requested and ruled that Appellant (as Defendant before the Magistrate Court) was entitled to judgment against Respondent in the total amount of Four Thousand Five Hundred Seventy-Three and 42/100 Dollars (\$4,573.42) based on Appellant’s counterclaims (*Id.*). Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal seeking to have the Circuit Court review the finding of the Magistrate Court (*See* Notice of Appeal dated July 28, 2023 - R. pp. 205-206).

On appeal, the Circuit Court reversed the Magistrate Court’s ruling in its entirety. *See* FORM 4 dated September 30, 2025 and filed on October 1, 2025 (“Form 4 Order”)(R. pp. 210-212) and Order of the Circuit Court Reversing Magistrate Court Ruling in its Entirety dated and filed on November 3, 2025 (“Formal Order”) (*See* Formal Order - R. pp. 213-218). The Circuit Court further ordered Appellant⁶ to return One Thousand Eight Hundred Seventy-Five and no/100 Dollars (\$1,875.00) of the Security Deposit to Respondent and awarded Respondent treble damages under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(b) in the amount of Five Thousand Six Hundred Twenty-Five and no/100 Dollars (\$5,625.00) (*Id.*).

Appellant filed a timely Rule 59(e), SCRCP Motion (“Motion for Reconsideration”) (*See* Motion for Reconsideration - R. pp. 244-245). By FORM 4 dated November 21, 2025 (“Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration”), the Circuit Court

⁵ The Magistrate Court’s Order is improperly identified as “Summons & Complaint.”

⁶ Appellant herein was identified as the Respondent in the Circuit Court’s Order.

denied the Motion for Reconsideration (*See* Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration - R., pp. 246-248).

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal related to the Circuit Court's Form 4 Order, Formal Order, and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration (*See* Notice of Appeal dated December 15, 2025 - R. pp. 249-266).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Section 18-7-170 governs the standard of review applicable in this matter. This code section states:

Upon hearing the appeal the appellate court shall give judgment according to the justice of the case, without regard to technical errors and defects which do not affect the merits. In giving judgment the court may affirm or reverse the judgment of the court below, in whole or in part, as to any or all the parties and for errors of law or fact. S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-170.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Dave H. Squalli (“Appellant”) is the owner of certain real property located at and identified as 400 Mills Avenue, Unit 412 , Greenville, South Carolina 29605 (“Subject Property”) (*See* Tenant’s Complaint).⁷ On or about March 1, 2017, Appellant and Andrew Barr (“Respondent”) entered into an original lease agreement (“Original Lease”)(R. pp. 007-009).⁸ A second lease agreement was entered into between Appellant and Respondent on March 15, 2020 (“Second Lease”)(R. pp. 010-012).⁹ Both the Original Lease and Second Lease required Respondent to pay, a security deposit of One Thousand Nine Hundred and no/100 Dollars (\$1,900.00) (“Security Deposit”). Paragraph 14 of the Second Lease (R. p. 011) reads in pertinent part as follows:

At the termination of this Agreement, all of above items in this provision shall be returned to OWNER in clean and good condition except for reasonable wear and tear and the premises shall be free of all personal property and trash not belonging to the OWNER. It is agreed that all dirt, holes, tears, burns, and stains of any size or amount in the carpets, drapes, walls, furnishings, fixtures, furniture and/or any other part of the premises, do not constitute reasonable wear and tear.

Respondent vacated and surrendered possession of Subject Property on June 30, 2021 (*See* Magistrate Court’s Order dated June 28, 2023 - R. pp. 203-204).¹⁰ Respondent failed to return a gate access card and main door key to Appellant (*Id.*).

⁷ While the initial pleading filed with the Magistrate Court was not identified as a complaint, for simplicity purposes Appellant will refer to the initial pleading filed by Andrew Barr as “Tenant’s Complaint.”

⁸ See the Original Lease which was identified as Exhibit 1 to Tenant’s Complaint.

⁹ See the Second Lease which was identified as Exhibit 2 to Tenant’s Complaint.

¹⁰ The Magistrate Court’s Order is improperly identified as “Summons & Complaint.”

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO APPLY THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS TERMS/PROVISIONS OF THE SECOND LEASE.

As is set forth in greater detail below, the lower court failed to apply the clear and unambiguous language contained in the Second Lease. “When a contract is unambiguous a court must construe its provisions according to the terms the parties used; understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense.” *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). “If a contract's language is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, no construction is required and its language determines the instrument's force and effect.” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC*, 374 S.C. 483, 499, 649 S.E.2d 494, 502 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Jordan v. Security Group, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 227, 230, 428 S.E.2d 705, 707 (1993) and *Blakeley v. Rabon*, 266 S.C. 68, 72, 221 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1976)). During the trial before the Magistrate Court, both parties acknowledged that the issue to be decided was what constituted reasonable wear and tear to the subject property (R. p. 124, ln. 20-21; p. 125, ln. 5-6 and p. 128, ln. 4-11). Based on the evidence and testimony presented during the trial held on June 26, 2023, the Magistrate made the following findings of fact:

- An established landlord/tenant relationship existed between the Defendant and Plaintiff from March 1, 2017 until June 30, 2021 with an initial lease, a subsequent lease, and a second lease agreement. The second lease agreement was signed by both the Plaintiff on March 15, 2020 and the Defendant on March 20, 2020.
- The Defendant allowed the Plaintiff to paint the entire unit upon his moving in on March 1, 2017;
- The Plaintiff paid the Defendant a security deposit of \$1,900.00 during the second lease agreement thereby extending the Plaintiffs lease an additional year from June 1, 2020 until June 30, 2021;
- The Plaintiff moved out June 30, 2021 and delivered possession of the

rental unit to the Defendant;

— The Defendant did not return the Plaintiff's security deposit of \$1,900.00;

— The Plaintiff did not return a gate access card (\$10.00) and a main door key (\$15.00) to the Defendant upon his moving out;

— **Both the Plaintiff and the Defendant acknowledged the wording of the second lease in Paragraph 14 under Condition of Premises and it includes the following:** " ... At the termination of this Agreement, all of above items in this provision shall be returned to OWNER in clean and good condition except for reasonable wear and tear and the premises shall be free of all personal property and trash not belonging to the OWNER. It is agreed that all dirt, holes, tears, burns, and stains of any size or amount in the carpets, drapes, walls, furnishings, fixtures, furniture and/or any other part of the premises, do not constitute reasonable wear and tear."

(See Magistrate Court's Order dated June 28, 2023 - R. pp. 203-204) (emphasis added).¹¹

Based on the foregoing, the Magistrate Court correctly found that Appellant "rightfully withheld the Plaintiff's security deposit in order to cover damages exceeding that of 'reasonable wear and tear' as expressly defined in the parties lease agreement." (See Magistrate Court's Order dated June 28, 2023 - R. pp. 203-204).

Both parties acknowledged the terms of Paragraph 14, Condition of Premises, and what was expressly excluded from the phrase reasonable wear and tear in their agreement. Respondent, as a licensed attorney, certainly understood and had an opportunity to negotiate the material terms of the Second Lease. The damages that were presented by the Appellant at the Magistrate Court hearing – holes in the wall, etc. – fall within the exclusions of reasonable wear and tear as set forth in the clear and unambiguous language of the Second Lease (R. pp. 017-109 and p. 145, ln. 4-20). Appellant presented invoices and evidence at the trial of the case to support the damages award of the Magistrate Court, including an affidavit of attorney's fees which were permitted pursuant to

¹¹ The Magistrate Court's Order is improperly identified as "Summons & Complaint."

the terms of the Second Lease as well (*See* Photographs provided by Appellant - R. pp. 017-109; Invoice No. 1284 from All Pro Painting, LLC dated July 23, 2021 - R. p. 117; Spreadsheet listing total cost of repairs - R. p. 118; and Attorney Fee Affidavit - R. p. 119).

The Circuit Court (as the initial appellate court in this instance) had the ability to make its own findings of fact if it found errors of fact. Appellant submits that there were no errors of fact by the Magistrate Judge. During the trial before the Magistrate Court, the parties agreed, on the record, that paragraph 14 of the Second Lease contained a specific list of damages that were excluded from the definition of reasonable wear and tear (R. p. 124, ln. 20-21; p. 125, ln. 5-6 and p. 128, ln. 4-11). The Circuit Court's FORM 4 dated September 30, 2025 and filed on October 1, 2025 ("Form 4 Order") indicates that the agreed upon/acknowledged language was ambiguous – it is not! (*See* Form 4 Order - R. pp. 210-212).

The lower court failed to apply and enforce the clear and unambiguous terms of the Second Lease, which the parties acknowledged on the record at the trial of the case. "The purpose of all rules of contract construction is to determine the parties' intention." *Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 89, 232 S.E.2d 20, 25 (1977). "To give effect to the parties' intentions, the court will endeavor to determine the situation of the parties and their purposes at the time the contract was entered." *U.S. Bank Tr. Nat'l Ass'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 374, 684 S.E.2d 199, 205 (Ct. App. 2009). "In construing a contract, the primary objective is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties." *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs.*, 374 S.C. 483, 497, 649 S.E.2d 494, 501 (Ct. App. 2007). "If a contract's language is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, no construction is required and its language determines the instrument's force and effect." *Id. at 499, 649 S.E.2d at 502*. "When a contract is unambiguous a court must construe its provisions according to the terms the parties

used; understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense.” *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). When the language of a contract is plain and capable of legal construction, that language alone determines the instrument’s force and effect. *Jordan v. Security Group, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 227, 428 S.E.2d 705 (1993). The court’s duty is to enforce the contract made by the parties regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or the parties’ failure to guard their rights carefully. *Id.* Appellant and Respondent both agree that they entered into the Second Lease and that the same is a valid and enforceable contract.

Paragraph 14 of the Second Lease, in clear and unambiguous terms, indicates that “**all dirt, holes, tears, burns, and stains of any size or amount** in the carpets, drapes, walls, furnishings, fixtures, furniture and/or any other part of the premises, **do not constitute reasonable wear and tear.**” (Emphasis added). The lower court failed to apply the terms as agreed upon when the Second Lease was entered into between the parties. Instead, the lower court ignored and/or rewrote the terms of the Second Lease. *See Crenshaw v. Erskine Coll.*, 432 S.C. 1, 25, 850 S.E.2d 1, 13 (2020) (“No jury—nor any judge—is permitted by law to rewrite a contract to impose liability based on some vague personal sense of what is fair.”). The record before the Magistrate Court and Circuit Court established that there were in fact holes in the walls that required painting, replacing a window shade battery, replacing two broken towel bars and then the key/cards (which were acknowledged by Respondent). These issues are NOT and CANNOT be construed as reasonable wear and tear under the terms the Second Lease.

It should be noted that the Respondent requested, and received, certain amendments to the Second Lease, specific to the cabinets (Transcript from Magistrate Court Hearing dated June 26, 2023). Respondent did not object to the inclusion of Paragraph 14 in the

Second Lease. In addition, during the Magistrate Court trial, the Respondent stated on the record multiple times that the issue to be decided is what was considered reasonable wear and tear – Appellant submits that the clear and unambiguous language of the parties’ agreement sets forth what is to be considered reasonable wear and tear and what is not to be considered reasonable wear and tear. Respondent further acknowledged that he/his wife did make holes in the wall during their tenancy (Transcript from Magistrate Court Hearing dated June 26, 2023). Respondent also stated at the Magistrate Court trial that he did nothing to repair the holes in the wall that he created during his tenancy (Transcript from Magistrate Court Hearing dated June 26, 2023). The Respondent further did not object to the painting invoice/summary that was introduced in evidence at the trial of this case.

II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN AWARDING RESPONDENT TREBLE DAMAGES UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-40-410(B).

The lower court erroneously concluded that the Appellant’s failure to return the security deposit was “willful and improper” giving rise to treble damages under S. C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(b).¹² Section 27-40-410(b) reads as follows:

If the landlord fails to return to the tenant any prepaid rent or security/rental deposit with the notice required to be sent by the landlord pursuant to subsection (a), the tenant may recover the property and money in an amount equal to three times the amount wrongfully withheld and reasonable attorney's fees.

The record does not support a finding that the Appellant’s decision to withhold the security deposit was willful, improper, or wrongful. “A willful act is defined as one ‘done voluntarily and intentionally with the specific intent to do something the law forbids, or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say, with bad purpose either to disobey

¹² See paragraph (2) of the Order of the Circuit Court Reversing Magistrate Court Ruling in its Entirety dated November 3, 2025.

or disregard the law.’” *Spartanburg Cnty. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Padgett*, 296 S.C. 79, 82-83, 370 S.E.2d 872, 874 (1988) quoting *Black’s Law Dictionary* (5th Ed. 1979). The term “willful” implies a purposeful or malicious effort to bring about a particular result rather than simply a knowing violation of duty. *See generally State v. Garrard*, 390 S.C. 146, 149-51, 700 S.E.2d 269, 271-72 (Ct. App. 2010) (collecting cases defining the term “willful” and explaining a person’s actions meet the definition when he “voluntarily and intentionally” commits an act with “a consciousness of wrongdoing”); *Willful*, *Black’s Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). As is set forth in greater detail above, based on the clear and unambiguous language of the Lease entered into by the parties, the Appellant believed that he had a right to withhold the security deposit (R. pp. 110-112). As reflected in the record, the Magistrate Court agreed with the Appellant’s argument.¹³

The Appellant had a good faith argument that was supported by the terms of the Second Lease entered into between the Appellant, as landlord, and Respondent, as tenant (R. pp. 110-112). As such, Appellant’s acts cannot logically be construed as purposeful or malicious. Asserting a colorable legal argument should not be considered willful or wrongful even if said argument is later rejected on appeal.

The lower court emphasis on how long the Appellant retained the security deposit is misplaced. Until the lower court issued its Order on November 3, 2025, the Appellant had no reason to believe that he was not entitled to retain the security deposit given the condition of the property and the agreed upon exclusion to “reasonable wear and tear.”

Even if the Circuit Court’s position as to the issue of “wear and tear” was correct, the award of treble damages under these circumstances is unduly harsh. Appellant would further note that such a ruling will have a chilling effect on landlords in similar circumstances who will be

¹³ See Order of Magistrate Judge Jonathan A. Horne dated June 28, 2023.

forced to weigh the options of protecting their rights under the applicable lease against the risk of being held to have violated S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(b) if some court later disagrees with the landlord's position. The case before the bench does not reflect a situation where a landlord without a good faith argument and/or legal justification withheld a security deposit. Instead, the Appellant's decision to withhold the security deposit is and was consistent with the clear and unambiguous language of the Second Lease (R. pp. 010-012).

Based on the foregoing, the lower court erred when it concluded that the Appellant violated S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(b) and found that the Respondent was entitled to the treble damages.

CONCLUSION

The clear and unambiguous language in the Second Lease entered by the parties that is at issues in this matter is:

It is agreed that all dirt, holes, tears, burns, and stains of any size or amount in the carpets, drapes, walls, furnishings, fixtures, furniture and/or any other part of the premises, do not constitute reasonable wear and tear. (R. p. 11).

The evidence and testimony presented in this case leads to only one conclusion – the parties both acknowledged this provision of the Second Lease and all damages sought by the Appellant at the Magistrate Court trial, and awarded to him therein, are related to matters that **ARE NOT** reasonable wear and tear per the terms of the parties' agreement (R. pp. 010-012). As such, Appellant had a right to withhold the Respondent's security deposit.

Based on the foregoing, the lower court's ruling should be reversed in full and the Magistrate Court's Order dated June 28, 2023 should be reinstated.