RECEIVED

Jun 02 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Vernon F. Dunbar, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002506

Andrew Barr,

Respondent,

v.

Dave H. Squalli,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF



Andrew Barr, Esq.
FULTON BARR, P.A.
P.O. Box 17949
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 235-3154
andrew@fultonbarr.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court correctly concluded that Appellant failed to establish damages to the premises beyond ordinary wear and tear.
- II. Whether the Circuit Court properly awarded treble damages pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(b) based on Appellant's failure to comply with statutory requirements governing the return of a security deposit.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a landlord-tenant dispute concerning the return of a residential security deposit.

Andrew Barr ("Tenant" or "Respondent") leased a condominium from Dave H. Squalli ("Landlord" or "Appellant") from March 1, 2017, through June 30, 2021, pursuant to two successive written lease agreements. (R. pp. 7-12). The Tenant paid a \$1,900.00 security deposit at the inception of the tenancy. Following termination of the lease, the Landlord refused to return the security deposit and asserted a claim for property damage. On August 19, 2021, the Tenant initiated an action in the Magistrate Court of Greenville County seeking return of the deposit. (R. pp. 3-6). The Landlord filed a counterclaim alleging property damage. (R. pp. 13-16).

On June 28, 2023, the Magistrate Court entered judgment in favor of the Landlord and awarded damages against the Tenant in the amount of \$4,573.42, including attorney's fees and costs¹. (R. pp. 203-204). Tenant appealed the judgment to the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-170. (R. p. 205).

On November 3, 2025, the Circuit Court entered an order reversing the Magistrate Court's ruling in its entirety. (R. pp. 213-218). After reviewing the record, including video

¹ The Magistrate Court's Order is incorrectly labeled "Summons and Complaint".

evidence of the premises, the Circuit Court found that the Landlord failed to present "credible evidence of damage beyond reasonable wear and tear" within the meaning of the lease agreements and South Carolina law. (R. p. 215).

The Circuit Court further found that the Landlord failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410 by failing to provide an itemized statement of deductions and had improperly withheld the security deposit. (R. p. 216). Based on these findings, the Circuit Court entered judgment in favor of the Tenant and awarded treble damages in the amount of \$5,625.00. (R. p. 216).

The Landlord now appeals that decision, contending that the Circuit Court erred in determining that minor nail holes and similar conditions associated with a four-year tenancy constitute normal wear and tear.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appeals from the Magistrate Court to the Circuit Court are governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-170, which provides that the Circuit Court "shall give judgment according to the justice of the case, without regard to technical errors and defects which do not affect the merits," and may "affirm or reverse the judgment of the court below, in whole or in part, as to any or all of the parties, for errors of law or fact." *Bowers v. Thomas*, 373 S.C. 240, 644 S.E.2d 751 (Ct. App. 2007); *Hadfield v. Gilchrist*, 343 S.C. 88, 92-93, 538 S.E.2d 268, 270 (Ct. App. 2000).

On appeal to this Court, the Circuit Court's decision, which originated from a magistrate's judgment, the standard of review is generally narrower, focusing on errors of law. Unless an error of law is found, the circuit court's holding will be affirmed if there are any facts supporting its decision (*Bowers v. Thomas, supra*). On review from the circuit

court, the appellate court is without authority to reverse findings of fact if there is any supporting evidence. *Vacation Time of Hilton Head Island, Inc. v. Kiwi Corp.*, 280 S.C. 232, 234, 312 S.E.2d 20, 21 (Ct. App. 1984).

An action for breach of contract is an action at law. *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 483, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct. App. 1997). "In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings." *Townes Assocs., Ltd v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

This Court may not reweigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the Circuit Court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO PROVE DAMAGE EXCEEDED NORMAL WEAR AND TEAR IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD AND MUST BE AFFIRMED.

The Circuit Court correctly determined that the Landlord failed to establish any damage to the premises beyond normal wear and tear. That conclusion is supported by competent evidence in the record.

The subject lease agreements required Tenant to return the premises in "clean and good condition, except for reasonable wear and tear," and permitted deductions only for "repair of damages... above ordinary wear and tear." (R. pp. 7-12). The terms of the Lease Agreements place the burden squarely on the Landlord to demonstrate damage exceeding ordinary residential use when retaining any portion of the security deposit. (Id.)

The parties entered into a lease agreement on March 1, 2017, which provided:

4. SECURITY DEPOSITS: The total of the above deposits shall secure compliance with the terms and conditions of this agreement and shall be refunded to RESIDENT within 30 days after the premises have been completely vacated less any amount necessary to pay OWNER:

- a) Any unpaid rent,
- b) Cleaning costs,
- c) Key replacement costs,
- d) Cost for repair of damages to premises, furnishings and/or common areas **above ordinary wear and tear**
- e) Any other amount legally allowable under the terms of this agreement.

13. CONDITION OF PREMISES: RESIDENT acknowledges that he/she has examined the premises and that said premises, all furnishings, fixtures furniture, plumbing, heating, electrical facilities, all items listed on the attached property condition checklist, if any, and/or all other items provided by OWNER are all clean, and in good satisfactory condition except as may be indicated elsewhere in this Agreement. RESIDENT agrees to keep the premises and all items in good order and good condition and to Immediately pay for costs to repair and/or replace any portion of the above damaged by RESIDENT, his guests and/or invitees, except as provided by law. At the termination of this Agreement, all of above items in this provision shall be returned to OWNER in clean and good condition **except for reasonable wear and tear** and the premises shall be free of all personal property and trash not belonging to OWNER. It is agreed that all dirt, holes, tears, burns, and stains **of any size or amount** in the carpets, drapes, walls, furnishings, fixtures, furniture and/or any other part of the premises, do not constitute reasonable wear and tear.

(R. pp. 7-8). These terms of the second lease were identical. (R. pp. 10-11).

Appellant's argument that the lease language is clear and concise is internally inconsistent and legally untenable. At trial, Appellant acknowledged that the meaning of "reasonable wear and tear" was the central issue for determination and necessarily one requiring a factual evaluation. (R. p. 124, lines 20-24). Appellant expressly concedes that the lease language was ambiguous as to this issue. (App. Final Brief, p.7). Yet on appeal, Appellant reverses course and argues the relevant provisions are clear and unambiguous and the contract language was misinterpreted by the Circuit Court (App. Final Brief, pp. 7-10). Appellant cannot simultaneously assert that a contractual term required factual interpretation at trial, while arguing on appeal that the term has a clear and definite meaning. This contradiction inherently undermines the Appellant's position and confirms that the issue was properly treated by the Circuit Court as a question of fact.

Under South Carolina law, where a contract is ambiguous or capable of more than one reasonable interpretation, the determination of the parties' intent becomes a question of fact. *Cafe Assoc. Ltd. v. Gerngross*, 305 S.C. 6, 406 S.E.2d 162 (1991). In such circumstances, the

court's role is to give effect to the parties' intent based on the evidence presented. *Parker v. Byrd*, 309 S.C. 189, 420 S.E.2d 850 (1992), *Columbia East Assoc. v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 299 S.C. 515, 386 S.E.2d 259 (Ct.App.1989).

The evidence demonstrates that Tenant fully complied with the lease terms and returned the premises in a clean and satisfactory condition as required by the Lease Agreement. When the Tenant took possession in 2017, the condominium had not been freshly painted or the carpets cleaned. (R. p. 222, lines 6-14). With the Landlord's knowledge and consent, the Tenant repainted the unit and cleaned the carpets at his own expense. (R. p. 222, lines 9-14). Tenant and his wife resided in the unit for more than four years and used the premises solely for ordinary residential purposes. (R. p. 222, lines 4-5). At the conclusion of the tenancy, Tenant paid to have the condo professionally cleaned and the carpets cleaned to ensure the property was returned in a clean and satisfactory condition. (R. p. 222, lines 14-20).

Video evidence presented to the Circuit Court showed only minor scuffing and small nail holes associated with the hanging of artwork—conditions which are consistent with ordinary use. The record contains no evidence of tenant-caused damage, destruction, or deterioration resulting from negligence, intentional harm, or misuse. (R. Video).

Additionally, testimony from a property management professional established that small nail holes are commonly regarded within the industry as reasonable wear and tear, the need for repainting following a long-term tenancy to cover cosmetic blemishes is routine and customary, and the cost to repaint is customarily incurred by the landlord. (R. p. 163, lines 13-21; R. p. 171, lines 21-25; R. p. 172, lines 1-3).

South Carolina law distinguishes between ordinary wear and tear and deliberate or negligent damage. In general, "normal wear and tear" is defined as deterioration resulting

from ordinary and expected use of the premises. Damage "beyond normal wear and tear" is generally defined as deterioration which occurs due to negligence, carelessness, accident, or abuse of the premises. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §27-40-510(6). Courts likewise recognize that the length of tenancy is a relevant consideration, as extended occupancy increases the overall ordinary wear and tear on the premises.

Based on the evidence presented and applicable state law, the Circuit Court found that the Tenant's use of the premises over four years was consistent with ordinary residential activity and that the minor conditions observed at move-out did not exceed reasonably expected wear and tear to the premises. (R. pp. 214-215). The court specifically determined that "minor nail holes, scuff marks, and wall blemishes associated with hanging and removing pictures are incidental to normal occupancy and do not constitute damage." (R. p. 215).

Repainting after a four-year tenancy is a paradigmatic example of ordinary maintenance, not tenant-caused damage. Permitting recovery for such costs would improperly shift the burden of general maintenance and repair to the tenant and essentially allows the landlord to charge a "wear and tear penalty", which is contrary to both the lease and South Carolina law.

The record contains ample evidence including witness testimony, documentary evidence, and video documentation of the unit's condition at move-out, all of which support the Circuit Court's finding that the minor touch-up painting to cover cosmetic blemishes was the result of reasonable and expected wear and tear. Where evidence reasonably supports the lower court's factual determinations, those findings are conclusive on appeal. *Vacation Time of Hilton Head Island, Inc. v. Kiwi Corp.*, 280 S.C. 232, 312 S.E.2d 20 (Ct. App. 1984). Appellant's disagreement with the Circuit Court's conclusions does not constitute legal error. Rather, it reflects a request for this Court to reach a different factual determination based on the same

record, relief this Court is without authority to grant., and because the Circuit Court correctly applied both the lease and governing law to the facts, the ruling must be affirmed.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY AWARDED TREBLE DAMAGES UNDER S.C. CODE §27-40-410(b).

The Circuit Court correctly determined that the Landlord violated S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(b) and that Tenant is entitled to treble damages. Appellant's interpretation of §27-40-410(b) is wholly inconsistent with South Carolina law. The statute does not require proof a landlord acted willfully, negligently, or in bad faith. Rather, the relevant question is whether the landlord to send an itemized statement of any deductions from the security deposit within (30) days of a tenant vacating the premises as required by §27-40-410(a).

In reviewing a damages award, this Court does not reweigh the evidence but determines whether any evidence supports the award. *Vortex Sports & Entm't, Inc. v. Ware*, 378 S.C. 197, 208, 662 S.E.2d 444, 450 (Ct. App. 2008). South Carolina courts have consistently upheld treble damages under similar circumstances. *Prevatte v. Asbury Arms*, 302 S.C. 413, 396 S.E.2d 642 (Ct. App. 1990). The statutory remedy provided in §27-40-410(b) reflects the General Assembly's intent to protect tenants and deter improper withholding of security deposits by landlords.

The evidence presented at trial clearly shows that Landlord was required by both South Carolina law and the terms of the lease agreements to return the full security deposit within thirty (30) days after termination of the tenancy, less only those amounts properly attributable to (a) unpaid rent, (b) cleaning cost, (c) key replacement cost, and (d) cost for repair of damage to premises, furnishings, and/or common areas beyond ordinary wear and tear. (R. pp. 7-12). Respondent admits he failed to return a key (\$10.00 fee) and access card (\$15.00 fee), thus \$25.00 should have reasonably been deducted from the \$1,900.00 security deposit. (R. p.

p. 230, lines 14-16). The record reflects that the Tenant vacated the premises on June 30, 2021, and that the Landlord retained the entirety of the \$1,900.00 security deposit. (R. p. 137, lines 5-9; R. p. 127, lines 5-9). The record does not reflect any evidence whatsoever that Landlord sent Tenant an itemized invoice to explain withholding the entire \$1,900.00 security deposit as required by §27-40-410(a). Appellant did not raise the defense of statutory compliance at the lower court level, nor does he raise this as a defense on appeal.

The record clearly establishes Landlord's violation of §27-40-410(a). Violation of this statute allows an award of treble damages by §27-40-410(b). There is no error of law, and the Circuit Court's judgment must be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court properly exercised its authority under S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-170 and rendered judgment consistent with both the evidence and applicable law.

The record contains ample evidence supporting the Circuit Court's findings that the Tenant returned the premises in clean and good condition, that any minor imperfections were consistent with ordinary wear and tear, and there was no evidence of damage to the premises beyond normal wear and tear within the meaning of the lease agreement or South Carolina law.

The record also supports the Circuit Court's determination that Landlord failed to comply with the statutory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §27-40-410(a). Further, the record shows Landlord has continued to withhold the full \$1,900.00 security deposit for almost five (5) years. Accordingly, the award of treble damages is fully supported by the evidence and controlling law.

Appellant has identified no error of law. Instead, Appellant seeks to reweigh the evidence and substitute this Court's judgment for that of the Circuit Court — relief that is not permitted

under the applicable standard of review. Because there is no factual dispute and no error of law, the Circuit Court's Order must be affirmed in its entirety.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "Andrew Barr", written in a cursive style.

Andrew Barr, Esq.
FULTON BARR, P.A.
P.O. Box 17947
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 235-3154